**RECEIVED**

**Mar 07 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Court of General Sessions

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001603

---

THE STATE

v.

RESPONDENT,

TIMOTHY M. VOEGELI ,

APPELLANT

---

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

AIMEE J. ZMROCZEK  
A.J.Z. LAW FIRM, LLC  
2003 Lincoln Street (29201)  
PO Box 11961  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 400-1918-t  
aimee@ajzlawfirm.com  
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

**

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. Is the statute criminalizing domestic violence in the second degree unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of Appellant's right to privacy of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution because it does not provide a time period nor definition for cohabitation specifically "male and female who are cohabiting or formerly have cohabited," therefore improper labeling former relationships as falling within the definitions of this act?
  
- II. In violation of Appellant's right to due process of law, did the trial judge err in failing to instruct the jury regarding self-defense where evidence was presented of self-defense, the jury required instructions regarding how to analyze such evidence, and instructions were necessary to ensure the burden of proof remained on the state in light of the presentation of self-defense evidence?

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On December 2, 2020, a Richland County grand jury indicted Appellant for one count of domestic violence in the second degree (2020-GS-40-04871). The state, represented by Anna Browder and John Gardner, called the case to trial before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury on October 31, 2022, through November 1, 2022. Laura Hiller and Lacey Thompson represented Appellant. The jury found Appellant guilty of the lesser included offense of domestic violence in the third degree<sup>1</sup>. On November 1, 2022, Judge Newman sentenced Appellant to thirty days imprisonment.

On November 14, 2022, Appellant served his notice of intent to appeal. This brief follows.

---

<sup>1</sup> A properly submitted lesser included offense to the one charged within the Indictment.

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On August 24, 2020, Erika Hall (“Erika”) called 911 stating that “my boyfriend just punched me in the face.” That night, the Defendant (“Tim”) broke up with Erika. Erika was upset that she lost or could not find her cell phone and could not find it when Tim told her to leave after assaulting him. The uncontroverted testimony was Tim had decided to move back to Kansas. He was moving back to Kansas to be with his family, to be with his grandchildren, and his girlfriend, Erika, at the time was upset that their relationship was coming to an end. He had only lived in Columbia for a few years to take care of his dad. At this time, his dad had passed away and he was moving back to Kansas. That night Erika came over to his house and brought Tim dinner. Erika was upset with Tim for leaving. Upset that he was going back to Kansas and upset that he wasn’t going to come back here to see her. So, she slapped him and kept trying to hit him. Tim defended himself and told her to get her “shit and leave” and pushed her away from him. She couldn’t find her cell phone when she was trying to leave. Tim said he didn’t have her phone, so she kicked him in the groin.

In trial, Erika tells a different version what happened two years ago. Two years ago, she tells the police she wanted her phone to call her son and that “her life is in it” (the phone). Two years ago, she did not advise police why this argument even started. She told the officer it wasn’t a heated argument. Tim just punched her in the nose. She says in her written statement that she doesn’t know why he punched her. In trial, her testimony changed to say the argument was about Tim moving to Kansas. That night she tells the police she went to the neighbors to call for help. Then when she writes her statement, only then, does she mention she had left for half an hour and came back. Erika could have had several places to call 911 but chose to come back to Tim’s house to knock on doors because she wants her phone. She wants the police to get her phone. She even tells the police there’s a window they can get into to get inside for her

phone. Erika admits to physically assaulting Tim. She testified that she kicked him in the groin. Tim testified at trial, consistent with his statements on police body worn cameras, that the physical contact only occurred because he was acting in self-defense.

### **ARGUMENT**

- I. The statute criminalizing domestic violence in the second degree is unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of Tim’s right to privacy and the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution because it does not define a time period for a relationship to be classified as cohabitation (specifically “male and female who are cohabiting **or formerly have cohabited.**”)

#### **Relevant facts**

The issue is whether the parties ever cohabitated. Prior to trial, Appellant, by and through his trial counsel, moved to dismiss the charges against him because the criminal statute pursuant to which he was charged was unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the United States Constitution<sup>2</sup>.

#### **Discussion**

The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution, section 1 states:

[a]ll persons born or naturalized in the United States, and subject to the jurisdiction thereof, are citizens of the United States and the State wherein they reside. No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws. Id.

The General Assembly originally passed the domestic violence Acts (“the Acts”) in 1984. At that time, while § 20-4-20 did not provide protection for any unmarried, cohabiting couples, § 16-25-10 stated: “As used in this article, ‘family or household member’ means spouses, former spouses, parents and children, persons related by consanguinity or affinity within the second degree, and persons cohabitating or formerly cohabitating.” (Emphasis supplied). Thus, as initially

---

<sup>2</sup> This was renewed at the directed verdict stages of the trial.

enacted, and then modified by statute, there were no cohabitation directive classifications as to persons protected under the Acts.

In 1994, the original definitions of “Household member[s]” were amended and replaced with more narrow definitions providing domestic violence protection for, inter alia, “a male and female who are cohabiting or formerly have cohabited.” See Act No. 484, 1984 S.C. Acts 2029; Act No. 519, 1994 S.C. Acts 5926, 5926–27; 5929 (emphasis supplied). Subsequent amendments to the Acts in 2003 and 2005 retained the gender-based distinctions made in 1994. See Act No. 92, 2003 S.C. Acts 1538, 1541, 1550; Act No. 166, 2005 S.C. Acts 1834, 1836, 1842.

In June 2015, the General Assembly substantially amended the Domestic Violence Reform Act, which provided harsher penalties for offenders, including a partial gun ban, and authorized judges to issue permanent Orders of Protection. See Act No. 58, 2015 S.C. Acts 225 (effective June 4, 2015). These most recent amendments left intact the gender-based designations of “Household member[s]” first adopted in 1994. The distinction-affording protection under the Acts to unmarried, cohabiting or formerly cohabiting, same-sex couples only was successfully challenged. Doe v. State, 421 S.C. 490, 808 S.E.2d 807 (2017). Here, the lack of a time frame reference as to what qualifies and “previously cohabited” as a violation of a causal relationships and therefore Tim’s right to privacy. See Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 164-65 (1973).

The right of privacy was denominated a liberty which found its source and its protection in the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 153 (1973) (Justice Stewart concurring). Justice Douglas continued to deny that substantive due process is the basis of the decisions. Doe v. Bolton, 410 U.S. 179, 209, 212 n.4 (1973) (concurring). “The Constitution does not explicitly mention any right of privacy. In a line of decisions, however, . . . the Court has recognized that a right of personal privacy, or a guarantee of certain areas or zones of privacy, does exist under the Constitution. . . . These decisions make it clear that only personal

rights that can be deemed ‘fundamental’ or ‘implicit in the concept of ordered liberty,’ Palko v. Connecticut, 302 U.S. 319, 325 (1937), are included in this guarantee of personal privacy. They also make it clear that the right has some extension to activities relating to marriage, Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1, 12 (1967); family relationships, Prince v. Massachusetts, 321 U.S. 158, 166 (1944). Repeating the above descriptive language from Roe and saying further: “the constitutionally protected privacy of family, marriage, motherhood, procreation, and child rearing is not just concerned with a particular place, but with a protected intimate relationship. Such protected privacy extends to the doctor's office, the hospital, the hotel room, or as otherwise required to safeguard the right to intimacy involved.” Paris Adult Theatre v. Slaton, 413 U.S. 49, 66 n.13 (1973). In Eisenstadt v. Baird, 405 U.S. 438 (1972), the court had declined to extend the Griswold principle to the unmarried on privacy grounds, relying on an equal protection analysis instead. Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113, 152 (1973). What is apparent from the Court's approach in these cases is that its concept of privacy is descriptive rather than analytical, making difficult an assessment of the potential of the doctrine. Privacy as a concept appears to encompass at least two different but related aspects. First, it relates to the right or the ability of individuals to determine how much and what information about themselves is to be revealed to others. Second, it relates to the idea of autonomy, the freedom of individuals to perform or not perform certain acts or subject themselves to certain experiences.

Governmental commands to do or not to do something may well implicate one or the other or both of these aspects, and judicial decision about the validity of such governmental commands must necessarily be informed by use of an analytical framework balancing the governmental interests against the individual interests in maintaining freedom in one or both aspects of privacy. That framework cannot now be constructed on the basis of the Court's decided cases. Griswold v. Connecticut, voiding a state statute proscribing the use of contraceptives, seems primarily to be

based upon a judicial concept of privacy flowing from the first aspect of privacy described above. 381 U.S. 479 (1965). That is, the predominant concern flowing through the several opinions is the threat of forced disclosure about the private and intimate lives of persons through the pervasive surveillance and investigative efforts that would be needed to enforce such a law; moreover, the concern was not limited to the outward pressures upon the confines of such provisions as the Fourth Amendment's search and seizure clause, but extended to techniques that would have been within the range of permissible investigation. Subsequent cases, however, have returned to Fourth and Fifth Amendment principles to regulate official invasions of privacy.

Evidently, then, the fundamental right of privacy that is protected by the due process clause is one functionally related to “family, marriage, motherhood, procreation, and child rearing.”

Here, Tim, because Erika stayed some nights ago at least a year before this occurred, he is still subjected to the harsher penalties of domestic violence because of a lack of clear definition of household member. Similarly, the extent to which governmental regulation of the sexual activities of minors is subject to constitutional scrutiny is of great and continuing importance. Analysis of these questions is hampered because the Court has not told us what about the particular facets of human relationships marriage, family, procreation gives rise to a protected liberty and what does not, and how indeed these factors vary significantly enough from other human relationships to result in differing constitutional treatment. The Court's observation in the abortion cases “that only personal rights that can be deemed ‘fundamental’ are included in this guarantee of personal privacy,” occasioning justification by a “compelling” interest. Terms the Supreme Court significantly restricted its equal protection doctrine of “fundamental” interests “compelling” interest justification by holding that the “key” to discovering whether an interest or a relationship is a “fundamental” one is whether it is “explicitly or implicitly guaranteed by the Constitution.”

Bowers v. Hardwick, 478 U.S. 186, 191, 106 S.Ct. 2841 1986).

Because this protection is now settled to be a “liberty” which the due process clause includes, the analytical validity of denominating the particular right or interest as an element of privacy rather than as an element of “liberty” seems open to question. While the “privacy” basis of autonomy seems to be definitionally based, the Court’s drawing on the line of cases since Meyer and Pierce, Meyer v. Nebraska, 262 U.S. 390 (1923); Pierce v. Society of Sisters, 268 U.S. 510 (1928) has “established that the Constitution protects the sanctity of the family precisely because the institution of the family is deeply rooted in this Nation's history and tradition.” Moore v. City of East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494, 503 (1977) (plurality). Continuing the limitation of the right of privacy to family-related activities is Bowers v. Hardwick, 478 U.S. 186 (1986).

Recognition of the protected “liberty” of the familial relationship affords the Court a principled and doctrinal basis of review of governmental regulations that adversely impact upon the ability to enter into the relationship, to maintain it, to terminate it, and to resolve conflicts within the relationship. This liberty, unlike the interest in property which has its source in statutory law, springs from the base of “intrinsic human rights, as they have been understood in ‘this Nation's history and tradition.’” Smith v. Organization of Foster Families, 431 U.S. 816, 845 (1977).

The trial testimony from Erika was that she met Tim on a dating app in Facebook in August of 2018. She testified that she owns a home in Red Bank that she moved out of and into the home of her uncle in West Columbia. She claims to have lived with Tim in 2019 from January to June and moved out after the relationship ended. On cross-examination Erika admitted to never changing her address with the DMV, never received one piece of mail, could not state the actual address of Tim’s residence. Tim testified that Erika stayed at his house for a period of two weeks prior to moving in with her uncle. In closing arguments, the State gives examples of living somewhere. The State says that a person can have two domiciles and uses examples of college

students and kids of divorced parents.

The arguments made by defense counsel center around the statutory definition of cohabitate. There was no such definition found, and counsel sought reliance and guidance amongst the domestic relations codes of law.<sup>3</sup> The State has a similar challenge defining the term and even cites to a 1963 divorce case. The court engages in a discussion of habitat of animals and humans so the word must not be vague.

Being of fundamental importance, the familial relationship is ordinarily subject only to regulation that can survive rigorous judicial scrutiny, although “reasonable regulations that do not significantly interfere with decisions to enter into the marital relationship may legitimately be imposed.” Zablocki v. Redhail, 434 U.S. 374, 386 (1978). Recent decisions cast light in all areas of the family relationship. Because the right to marry is a fundamental right protected by the due process clause, Loving v. Virginia, 388 U.S. 1, 12 (1967); Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479, 486 (1965); Cleveland Bd. of Education v. LaFleur, 414 U.S. 632, 639-40 (1974); Zablocki v. Redhail, 434 U.S. 374, 383-87 (1978). There is a constitutional right to live together as a family, one not limited to the nuclear family. “If a State were to attempt to force the breakup of a natural family, over the objections of the parents and their children, without some showing of unfitness and for the sole reason that to do so was thought to be in the children's best interest, I should have little doubt that the State would have intruded impermissibly on ‘the private realm of family life which the state cannot enter.’” Smith v. Organization of Foster Families, 431 U.S. 816, 862±63 (1977) (Justice Stewart concurring), cited with approval in Quilloin v. Walcott, 434 U.S. 246, 255 (1978). Thus, a city ordinance which zoned for single family occupancy and so defined “family” as to bar extended family relationships was found to violate the due process clause as applied to prevent a grandmother from having in her household two grandchildren of different children.

---

<sup>3</sup> Noting there was a reference made to 90 days continuous cohabitation.

Moore v. City of East Cleveland, 431 U.S. 494 (1977) (plurality opinion). The fifth vote, decisive to the invalidity of the ordinance, was on other grounds. Id. at 513. And the concept of “family” may extend beyond the biological, blood relationship of extended families to the situation of foster families, although the Court has acknowledged that such a claim to constitutionally protected liberty interests raises complex and novel questions. Smith v. Organization of Foster Families, 431 U.S. 816 (1977). The natural family, the Court observed, did not have its source in statutory law, whereas the ties that develop between foster parent and foster child have their origins in an arrangement which the State brought about. But some liberty interests do arise from positive law, although the expectations and entitlements are thereby limited as well by state law. And such a liberty interest may not be recognized without derogating from the substantive liberty interests of the natural parents. Thus, the interest of foster parents must be quite limited and attenuated, but Smith does not define what it is. Id. at 842-47.

The natural family, the Court observed, did not have its source in statutory law, whereas the ties that develop between foster parent and foster child have their origins in an arrangement which the State brought about. But some liberty interests do arise from positive law, although the expectations and entitlements are thereby limited as well by state law. And such a liberty interest may not be recognized without derogating from the substantive liberty interests of the natural parents. Thus, the interest of foster parents must be quite limited and attenuated, but Smith does not define what it is. Id. at 842-47. See Quilloin v. Walcott, 434 U.S. 246 (1978).

Under South Carolina law for someone to be arrested or prosecuted for Criminal Domestic Violence (CDV) it is necessary that the alleged victim be a household member. As defined by South Carolina law a household member is a: spouse, former spouse, persons who currently live together or have formerly lived together (cohabitate); and persons who have a child together. S.C. Code Ann. §16-25-10. Not all dating, sexual or boyfriend\girlfriend relationships meet the legal

definition of household member. Cohabitation has been defined as “[t]he fact or state of living together, especially as partners in life, usually with the suggestion of sexual relations.” Black's Law Dictionary 7th ed. at 254.

Unless the household member status exists between the defendant and the alleged victim there is no domestic violence law violation. Instead, there may be an assault (misdemeanor or felony) or no crime at all. This couple was clearly a couple who were only casually dating. The police arrived late at night or early in the morning and assumed that the couple was cohabiting. Here, Tim and Erika were previously only occasionally spending the night with each other and still maintained separate legal residences and as of the time of this incident, did not even spend the night together.

The overbreadth doctrine “is predicated on the sensitive nature of protected expression: persons whose expression is constitutionally protected may well refrain from exercising their rights for fear of criminal sanctions by a statute susceptible of application to protected expression.” New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 768 (1982). “[F]or this reason,” the Court permits “persons to attack overly broad statutes even though the conduct of the person making the attack is clearly unprotected and could be proscribed by a law drawn with requisite specificity.” Id. at 769. “[A] statute is facially invalid if it prohibits a substantial amount of protected speech.” United States v. Williams, 553 U.S. 285, 292 (2008).

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