**RECEIVED**

**Oct 09 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County  
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2022-001603

---

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TIMOTHY MATTHEW VOEGELI,

Appellant.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON  
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192  
Columbia, SC 29202  
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**To the extent Appellant is contending South Carolina’s domestic violence laws are violative of his constitutional right to privacy, that particular issue was not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be addressed for the first time on appeal because it was neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial judge. Furthermore, to the extent Appellant is contending those laws are unconstitutionally vague or overbroad, the trial judge correctly rejected that contention because our state’s domestic violence laws are neither vague nor overbroad in a constitutional sense.**

#### **Relevant Facts**

Toward the outset of Appellant’s trial for second-degree domestic violence, defense counsel raised a constitutional challenge to South Carolina’s domestic violence statutes. (Tr. p. 33). More specifically, defense counsel argued the statutes should be struck down as unconstitutional because the term “cohabit” employed as part of the definition of “household member” for domestic violence purposes had purportedly “never been defined clearly anywhere” and was supposedly too “overbroad and vague.”<sup>6</sup> (Tr. pp. 33-34). In rebuttal, the solicitor

---

<sup>6</sup> As part of her argument, defense counsel noted the only statutory definition concerning cohabitation she could find was in an entirely different part of the South Carolina Code of Laws. (Tr. p. 33). Based on her representations, it appears defense counsel was referring to a statute related to alimony payments and the effect of remarriage on such payments. S.C. Code Ann. § 20-3-150. In that particular statute, the legislature mandated “*continued* cohabitation” of a supported spouse with another would result in the cessation of alimony payments by the supporting spouse. *Id.* (emphasis added). And, “[f]or purposes of th[at] section,” the legislature defined “continued cohabitation” as meaning “the supported spouse resides with another person in a romantic relationship for a period of ninety or more consecutive days.” *Id.* Notably, the existence of that particular statute hurt defense counsel’s argument rather than helped because it demonstrated the legislature: (1) considered cohabitation to be something distinct from *continued* cohabitation; and (2) was fully aware of how to establish a minimum period of time in the context of cohabitation when it intended for such a requisite time period to apply. See *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 86, 533 S.E.2d 578, 582 (2000) (“The canon of construction ‘*expressio unius est exclusio alterius*’ or ‘*inclusio unius est exclusio alterius*’ holds that ‘to express or include one thing implies the exclusion of another, or of the alternative.’ ”); cf. *Nelson v. Ozmint*, 390 S.C. 432, 436, 702 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2010) (finding the legislature’s inclusion of language allowing for early release in one statute but omitting it in another evidenced the

argued the term “cohabit”—which has a recognized dictionary definition and had previously been defined by the South Carolina Supreme Court in a similar context—simply meant living together in an intimate relationship. (Tr. pp. 34-35).

Following that, defense counsel shifted her argument to the specific facts of Appellant’s case and claimed those facts allegedly would not support a conclusion Appellant and Victim had cohabited with one another since Victim purportedly had only spent a night or several nights in a row with him.<sup>7</sup> (Tr. pp. 35-36). The solicitor responded defense counsel’s contention in that regard was one going to the strength of the State’s evidence as opposed to the constitutionality of the domestic violence statutes.<sup>8</sup> (Tr. p. 36).

After considering the arguments of counsel, the trial judge declined to strike down South Carolina’s domestic violence laws as unconstitutional. (Tr. pp. 36-37). In declining to do so, the trial judge noted statutory terms are frequently not explicitly defined when they have a plain and ordinary meaning that can be readily understood. (Tr. pp. 36-37). Finding that to be true of the

---

legislature’s intent for a defendant convicted of the offense delineated in the statute not containing the early release language to be ineligible for early release).

<sup>7</sup> Contrary to defense counsel’s claim, Victim later testified she lived continuously with Appellant—whom she indicated had been her boyfriend—from January of 2019 until June or July of 2019. (Tr. p. 95; p. 98; p. 103; p. 115). Victim further testified her relationship with Appellant was an intimate one, she had a key to his apartment, and she kept clothing there, including at the time of the incident. (Tr. p. 95; p. 113; p. 126). In addition to that, Appellant himself confirmed during trial he had been involved in a sexual relationship with Victim and dated her for approximately two years. (Tr. p. 142; p. 144). Moreover, although he insisted Victim never actually lived with him, Appellant admitted she stayed with him for approximately two weeks at one point and then was staying with him for four-to-five-day-in-a-row periods after that. (Tr. p. 153).

<sup>8</sup> Consistent with that contention, the solicitor later argued to the jury: “If you don’t believe that they lived together, then assault and battery third degree is going to be the other thing that [the trial judge] charges you, which means that the household member is[n’t] there.” (Tr. p. 180).

term “cohabit,” the trial judge concluded there were no constitutional problems with the statutes at issue in Appellant’s case. (Tr. pp. 36-37).

As the trial continued on, defense counsel renewed her contention South Carolina’s domestic violence laws were unconstitutionally vague and overbroad at the conclusion of both the State’s case and the defense’s case.<sup>9</sup> (Tr. pp. 129-130; pp. 170-171). However, the trial judge rejected that contention each time it was raised. (Tr. p. 130; p. 171).

### **Standard of Review**

In reviewing a challenge to the constitutionality of a statute, an appellate court has a “very limited” scope of review. State v. Harrison, 402 S.C. 288, 292, 741 S.E.2d 727, 729 (2013); see State v. Lewis, 434 S.C. 158, 166, 863 S.E.2d 1, 5 (2021) (“This Court’s review of whether a statute is constitutional is limited.”). All statutes are presumed to be constitutional and, if possible, will be construed in such a way to render them valid. State v. Neuman, 384 S.C. 395, 402, 683 S.E.2d 268, 271 (2009); see Powell v. Hargrove, 136 S.C. 345, 350, 134 S.E. 380, 382 (1926) (“[An appellate court] must sustain the validity of the legislative enactment, if it is possible to do so by any reasonable construction of the Constitution, even though the Court might differ with the Legislature as to the propriety of the legislation.”). “Constitutional constructions of statutes are not only judicially preferred, they are mandated; a possible constitutional construction must prevail over an unconstitutional interpretation.” Henderson v. Evans, 268 S.C. 127, 132, 232 S.E.2d 331, 333-334 (1997). Importantly, a statute “will not be

---

<sup>9</sup> In addition to renewing her constitutional challenge, defense counsel also moved for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the State’s case. (Tr. pp. 130-131). However, in doing so, she conceded her motion was a “perfunctory” one merely being made “for the record.” (Tr. pp. 130-131). In rebuttal, the solicitor argued the State’s evidence satisfied all the elements of the indicted offense, and defense counsel indicated she had nothing in response to that. (Tr. pp. 131-132). Upon considering the matter, the trial judge declined to grant a directed verdict in Appellant’s case. (Tr. p. 136).

declared unconstitutional unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear and beyond a reasonable doubt[,]” and the party challenging the validity of the statute has the heavy burden of proving its unconstitutionality. In re Care & Treatment of Lasure, 379 S.C. 144, 147, 666 S.E.2d 228, 229 (2008); see State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 58, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001) (“Appellants have the burden of proving the statute unconstitutional.”).

### **Analysis**

While it has long constituted a criminal offense in South Carolina for a person to unlawfully injure or offer or attempt to injure any other person, the General Assembly first enacted targeted domestic violence laws roughly *four decades ago* to address the significant societal problem of acts of violence involving intimate partners.<sup>10</sup> Act No. 484, 1984 S.C. Acts & Joint Resolutions; see Doe v. State, 421 S.C. 490, 505, 808 S.E.2d 807, 815 (2017) (“[T]he overall legislative purpose is to protect victims from domestic violence that occurs within the home and between members of the home.”); see also S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-600 (setting out South Carolina’s statutory assault and battery crimes); State v. Small, 307 S.C. 92, 93, 413 S.E.2d 870, 871 (Ct. App. 1992) (“Simple assault and battery is an unlawful act of violent injury to another person unaccompanied by any circumstance of aggravation.”). Pursuant to the current version of our state’s domestic violence laws, it is unlawful for a person to “cause physical harm or injury” to a household member or “offer or attempt” to do so “with apparent present ability under circumstances reasonably creating fear of imminent peril.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-20(A). And, for domestic violence purposes, a household member is statutorily defined as: (1) “a spouse”; (2) “a former spouse”; (3) “persons who have a child in common”; and (4) “a male

---

<sup>10</sup> At their inception, those laws were applicable in a criminal context to “persons cohabiting or formerly cohabiting.” Doe v. State, 421 S.C. 490, 499 n. 7, 808 S.E.2d 807 n. 7 (2017).

and female who *are cohabiting or formerly have cohabited.*”<sup>11</sup> S.C. Code Ann. § 16-25-10(3) (emphasis added).

In the case sub judice, Appellant—while focusing exclusively on the supposedly problematic nature of the “cohabiting” portion of the statutory definition of “household member” for domestic violence purposes—contends South Carolina’s statute criminalizing second-degree domestic violence is unconstitutionally overbroad and somehow violative of his due process right to privacy. As support for that contention, Appellant maintains the statute is unconstitutional to the point of being totally “unenforceable” because it applies to couples who are cohabiting or have formerly cohabited but does not set out a specific length of time for which a couple must live together before their relationship can be statutorily classified as cohabitation.<sup>12</sup> For multiple reasons, Appellant’s appellate arguments should and must be rejected.

Initially, to the extent Appellant’s current appellate challenge to the constitutionality of our state’s domestic violence laws is predicated on an assertion that his constitutional right to privacy was violated, that issue was not properly preserved for appellate review because it was

---

<sup>11</sup> Notably, although Appellant now appears to be contending South Carolina’s “household member” definition is too broad in scope, it is narrower in scope than the scope of many other states’ domestic violence laws, which frequently apply to people who are in dating relationships or who simply reside together. People v. Disher, 224 P.3d 254, 257 (Colo. 2010).

<sup>12</sup> Due to its apparent substance, Appellant’s challenge to the domestic violence laws appears to be one based on a disagreement with the scope of the laws’ applicability as opposed to one truly based on an actual claim of constitutional vagueness or overbreadth, and, thus, it is raising an attack to something falling exclusively within the policy-making function and authority of the legislature. See ArrowPointe Fed. Credit Union v. Bailey, 438 S.C. 573, 580, 884 S.E.2d 506, 509 (2023) (instructing appellate courts “do not sit as a superlegislature to second-guess the General Assembly’s decisions”); cf. State v. Leopard, 349 S.C. 467, 473, 563 S.E.2d 342, 345 (Ct. App. 2002) (“If it is desirable public policy to limit the class [to which the domestic violence statutes apply] to those physically residing in the household, that public policy must emanate from the legislature.”).

neither raised to nor ruled upon by the trial judge. See State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004) (explaining an issue—in order to be properly preserved for appellate review—must have been: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the circuit court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the circuit court with sufficient specificity); see also In re Care and Treatment of Corley, 365 S.C. 252, 258, 616 S.E.2d 441, 444 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Constitutional issues, like most others, must be raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appeal.”). Instead, during trial, defense counsel challenged the domestic violence statutes’ constitutionality *solely* on vagueness and overbreadth grounds without once mentioning “privacy” or “due process” at any point. See State v. Patterson, 324 S.C. 5, 19, 482 S.E.2d 760, 767 (1997) (“Appellant is limited to the grounds raised at trial.”). And, as would be expected under such circumstances, the trial judge obviously did not rule upon any privacy-based issues related to the domestic violence statutes since none were actually raised to him. See State v. Gee, 262 S.C. 373, 379, 204 S.E.2d 727, 729 (1974) (“Only matter that has been ruled on below can be reviewed[.]”). As a result, Appellant’s newly-conceived issue concerning a supposed violation of his constitutional right to privacy was patently not properly preserved for appellate review and cannot appropriately be considered or addressed for the first time on appeal. See State v. Head, 330 S.C. 79, 87, 498 S.E.2d 389, 393 (Ct. App. 1997) (instructing an appellate court “cannot address unpreserved errors”); see also State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (instructing a defendant cannot raise one argument in support of an issue at trial and then raise a different argument in support of that issue to the appellate court); cf. In re Care & Treatment of McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001) (declining to address a constitutional challenge to a legislative act that was not sufficiently preserved for appellate review based on the “firm policy to decline to rule on

constitutional issues unless such a ruling is required”); State v. Baker, 390 S.C. 56, 65, 700 S.E.2d 440, 444 (Ct. App. 2010) (“Baker cannot now add a constitutional claim on appeal because he cannot raise one ground to the trial court and a different ground on appeal.”); State v. Charron, 351 S.C. 319, 328, 569 S.E.2d 388, 393 (Ct. App. 2002) (finding allegations of due process and equal protection violations were not preserved for appellate review when there was no indication those issues were raised to the trial judge).

Likewise, to the extent Appellant’s current constitutional challenge to South Carolina’s domestic violence statutes is predicated on an assertion those laws are unconstitutionally vague<sup>13</sup> or overbroad due to the absence of a precise definition of the statutory term “cohabit,” his position in that regard was and is fundamentally incorrect. That is true because the statutes at issue were and are neither unconstitutionally vague nor unconstitutionally overbroad when the proper analyses are conducted.

As to the correct analysis when a constitutional vagueness challenge is raised, a penal statute defining a criminal offense must—to withstand such a challenge—simply be sufficiently specific such that: (1) ordinary people have fair notice as to what conduct is prohibited by it; and (2) its language does not encourage arbitrary or discriminatory enforcement without any fixed standards. Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983); see Connally v. General Const. Co., 269 U.S. 385, 393 (1926) (“The crime, and the elements constituting it, must be so clearly expressed that the ordinary person can intelligently choose, in advance, what course it is lawful for him to pursue.”). Critically, all that is constitutionally required of a statute is it must provide a “sufficient warning” that would allow people to “conduct themselves so as to avoid that which is forbidden.” Rose v. Locke, 423 U.S. 48, 50 (1975); see Curtis v. State, 345 S.C. 557, 572, 549

---

<sup>13</sup> Although not completely clear, it appears Appellant may have abandoned his vagueness challenge on appeal. (App. Br. pp. 4-12).

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